COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL

2007 NOV 15 A 10:53

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY _____

TAVARES WRIGHT,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No: SC05-2212

L.T. Case No.: CF00-02727A-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

COPY

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

BYRON P. HILEMAN
443 East Central Avenue
Post Office Drawer 9479
Winter Haven, Florida 33883-9479
Telephone: (863) 299-4883
Florida Bar No: 235660
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
Court-Appointed

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant, **Tavares Jerrod Wright** was charged by Indictment with one count of Carjacking, two counts of Kidnaping, two counts of First Degree Murder and two counts of Robbery on May 11, 2000. [R. Vol. 2 T. 341-351]. **Mr. Wright** was found indigent and the Public Defender was appointed, but then withdrew. [R. Vol. 2 T. 340, 355-357]. Byron P. Hileman, Esquire, was appointed as private conflict counsel, first chair, on July 17, 2000. [R. Vol. 2 T. 357]. David Carmichael, Esquire was appointed second chair private conflict counsel on November 20, 2001. [R. Vol. 3 T. 478].

A Jury Trial was held before the Honorable Dick Prince, Circuit Court Judge, from March 3, 2003 which resulted in a mistrial on March 27, 2003. [R. Vol. 1 T. 67-84]. A second Jury Trial was held before the Honorable Dick Prince, Circuit Court Judge, from September 9, 2003, until October 10, 2003, which resulted in a mistrial due to a hung jury on October 12, 2003. [R. Vol. 1 T. 108-123]. A third Jury Trial was held before the Honorable Dick Prince, Circuit Court Judge, from October 18, 2003 until November 12, 2004. **Mr. Wright** was convicted by the jury of one count of Carjacking, two counts of Kidnaping, , two counts of First Degree Murder, and two counts of Robbery with a Firearm on November 13, 2004. [R. Vol. 4 T. 707-715].

The Appellant waived his right to jury recommendations on November 16, 2004. [R. Vol. 2 T. 219]. A Spencer Hearing was held on May 10 and May 11, 2005 before the Honorable Dick Prince. [R. Vol. 5 T. 903-930 and Vol. 6 T. 931-962]. The Court sentenced the Defendant to death as to the two counts of First Degree Murder and a term of life imprisonment as to the other counts of Carjacking, Kidnaping, and Robbery with a Firearm on October 12, 2005. [R. Vol. 6 T. 963-983]. This appeal followed and was filed on November 4, 2005. [R. Vol. 6 T. 1001]. The Court appointed private appellate counsel, Byron P. Hileman, Esquire, on December 20, 2005, after weeks of delay due to nonavailability of qualified capital appellate counsel.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

OVERVIEW OF CASE:

According to the state's theory of the case, in the early evening of Friday, April 21, 2000, two young white men, victims **David Green** (21), then living in Virginia, and his cousin, **James Felker** (19) of Plant City, came together for a family wedding in Plant City. After the rehearsal dinner, the cousins decided to go bowling or to shoot pool. They went to Lakeland at about 8:00p.m. and they were in **Green's** car, a white Chrysler Cirrus. [See Testimony of Joy Scriven R. Vol. 24 T. 3414-3422] and Francis Green [R. Vol. 24 T. 3476-3481]. They are believed based on the testimony of Shaikeda Faison and Latasha Jackson and others to have arrived in the parking

lot of a Winn-Dixie store on Highway 98 in North Lakeland where there is also a McDonald's.

The state believes that at that point the two men, **Green** and **Felker**, were forced at gunpoint into their own car's backseat and taken by **T.J. Wright** and **Sammy Pitts** to a grove in a rural area near Polk City where they were robbed. In the grove each young man was shot several times and killed. **Green** was shot three times with a .380 pistol in the chest, forehead, and back of the neck. **Felker** was shot three times, once in the forehead with the .380 and twice by a shotgun in the back of head. The bodies were left in the grove. **Green's** car was taken by the assailants and several items were stolen from it which were later pawned and recovered by police. The next day, their families reported the two young men missing.

The state at an early stage gave notice it intended to utilize evidence of multiple collateral crimes by defendant **T.J. Wright** because it was evidence "inextricably intertwined" with the evidence relating to the murders. The court below permitted this evidence over defense objection at all three jury trials.[R. Vol. 21 T. 2846-2847].

COLLATERAL CRIME ONE: THE SHANK BURGLARY

On Thursday, April 20, 2000, the home of **Mr. & Mrs. Mark Shank** at 2429 Coral Way, Lakeland, Florida was burglarized. It is near the "Timberlane area" which is a high drug activity, high crime area in Southeast Lakeland. **Mark Shank** testified

that the house was broken into during daylight hours and that it was ransacked. Coins in a piggy bank, a VCR, jewelry, a .380 handgun and a 12 gauge shotgun were stolen. [R. Vol. 21 T. 2809-2820]. **Detective Aaron Campbell** investigated the burglary, dusted for latent prints, and found some on a plastic baby bottle piggy bank. He did not dust for prints in the closet where the stolen guns had been located. [R. Vol. 21 T. 2873-2910]. A palm print of **T.J. Wright** from the plastic baby bottle piggybank was identified. **Shank** gave police a serial number for the .380 handgun which was later matched to one of the murder weapons. The shotgun was never found.

Susan Dampier, a fingerprint identification technician for the Polk County Sheriff's Department testified. [R. Vol. 25 T. 3591-3622]. She stated that she was later asked to compare fingerprints of **T.J. Wright** with prints recovered by **Deputy Campbell** from a plastic bottle at the **Shank** residence at 2429 Coral Way in Lakeland. She identified the print from that item [Exhibit 186] as the right palm print of **T.J. Wright**. [R. Vol. 25 T. 3594-3601]. She did not compare prints from that scene to the known prints of **Sammy Pitts**, **Aaron Silas** or others involved in the case. [R. Vol 25 T. 3612]. Witness **Herman Moulden**, a former Supervisor of Fingerprint Identification Section of the Polk County Sheriff's Department, testified that he checked and confirmed **Susan Dampier's** identification of the **T.J. Wright** palm print. [R. Vol. 25 T. 3623-3627].

COLLATERAL CRIME TWO: THE LONGFELLOW DRIVE-BY

SHOOTING:

The .380 handgun used later to kill **Green** and **Felker** and which it was later learned was also fired at the victims of the Taco-Bell carjacking was also used at a drive-by shooting at 439 Longfellow Boulevard in Lakeland. Sometime before 9a.m. Friday, April 21, 2000, **Aaron Silas** agreed to give **T.J. Wright** a ride to Providence Reserve Apartments in North Lakeland in **Silas's** car. During that ride which takes them onto Longfellow Boulevard, **T.J. Wright** saw three men outside in the yard of a home and told **Silas** those are my "homeboys" and directed **Silas** to turn around and pull up there. The men are **Carlos Coney**, **Bennie Joiner** both of whom testified they knew **T.J. Wright** from school, and a man named **Mike**, who lived nearby. **Bennie Joiner** had had fights with **T.J. Wright** several years before in high school. From the drive-way, according to the witnesses, **T.J. Wright**, using a handgun, without saying a word or giving any warning, fired multiple shots at the men hitting one of them, **Carlos Coney** in the leg. Both witnesses, **Joiner**, and **Coney**, identified **T.J. Wright** in the courtroom as the shooter in this incident. [R. Vol.21 T. 2915-2935; Vol. 22 T. 2936-2939 (**Bennie Joiner**); R. Vol.22 T. 2939-2966 (**Carlos Coney**)]

Crime Scene Technician Supervisor, Laurie Ward, testified she processed the scene at 439 Longfellow Boulevard. [R. Vol. 22 T. 3048-3089]. She took photos

showing the home and placement of markers where items of evidence were recovered. She found two bullet holes inside the home on a wall and in a table. **Laurie Ward** recovered a spent .380 casing from the roadway. [Exhibit 224]. **Ward** recovered a second spent .380 casing from the roadway [Exhibit 225], a third .380 casing from the driveway itself [Exhibit 226], and yet another .380 casing from north of the driveway [Exhibit 227]. Finally, **Ward** recovered from inside the home in the table a projectile [Exhibit 230]. **Laurie Ward** also found a spent .25. caliber casing in the driveway. R. Vol. 22 T. 3077-3079].

Crime Scene Technician, **Laurie Ward** also testified to recovering a projectile from hospital personnel at Lakeland Regional Medical Center taken from the leg of **Carlos Coney** [Exhibit 232]. She also photographed and processed the black Toyota Corolla owned by **Aaron Silas** used in the Longfellow drive-by shooting. From that vehicle she lifted 46 latent print cards and she vacuumed it for trace evidence. [R. Vol. 22 T. 3079-3085].

Shakeda Faison, is a close friend of **Sammy Pitts'** sisters **Vontrese Anderson**, **Sandra Allen** a.k.a. "Booby", and **Darlitha Jones**. She is also close to **Pitts'** girlfriend, **Latosha Jackson**. **Faison** testified that she gave **T.J. Wright** a ride to Winn-Dixie on the evening of Friday, April 21, 2000. On that ride **Shakeda** stated that **Wright** told her out of the blue that "I ain't gonna lie I did shoot that boy in the leg

yesterday” R. Vol. 27 T.3931; 3942]. [Of Course all the evidence shows the Longfellow Boulevard shooting to have been at around 9:00a.m. the same day, April 21, 2000]

FDLE Firearms Examiner, John Romeo, testified he examined five exhibits from the drive-by shooting of Carlos Coney on Longfellow Boulevard. Exhibit 224 a casing was chambered and extracted from Exhibit 136, the .380 handgun, but could not be positively identified nor eliminated as having been fired from it. The same was true of Exhibit 225, another casing found at the scene. A projectile, Exhibit 230, recovered from the home of Carlos Coney was positively identified as having been fired from Exhibit 136, the .380 handgun. Finally, Romeo examined a projectile taken from Mr. Coney’s leg at the hospital [Exhibit 232], and stated it could be positively identified as having been fired from Exhibit 136, the .380 handgun. [R. Vol. 29 T. 4344-4350].

Aaron Silas had testified at the previous jury trials and called as a witness in this trial. However, in a proffer his lengthy serious mental health problems were probed and the state ended by not calling him as a witness. [R. Vol. 23 T. 3306-3315; Vol. 24 T. 3316-3332].

THE DOUBLE CARJACKING, KIDNAPING AND DOUBLE HOMICIDE:

The capital crime which is the subject of this Brief is believed to have happened between 7:00p.m. and 10:00p.m. Friday, April 21, 2000, beginning in a Winn-Dixie shopping center on Highway 98 North in Lakeland and ending with the shootings in a grove on Barfield Road near Polk City. The bodies were discovered after police were led to the area by **Sammy Pitts** on April 26, 2000.

COLLATERAL CRIME THREE: THE LAKELAND CAR CHASE

Later on the night of Friday, April 21st at about 10:30p.m. **Officer David Lay** of the Polk County Sheriffs' Department saw two young black males in a newer model white Chrysler car driving near Providence Reserve Loop in North Lakeland, and observed them travel through a stop sign and at high speeds. The driver had little nubs in his hair. **Officer Lay** ran the Virginia tag YTA8099 and it came back to an unassigned tag. A high speed chase ensued, but was called off shortly thereafter pursuant to Departmental policy and the car escaped. **Officer Lay** could see two black males only in the car and nobody in the back seat. However, **Rodnei Ruffin** testified that **T.J. Wright** said the two white guys were in the back seat during the police chase. [R. Vol. 28 T. 4260-4261]. Later it is learned that the vehicle, a white Chrysler Cirrus, belonged to missing person **David Green**. A day or so later the vehicle is discovered abandoned in an orange grove near Lake Alfred. [R. Vol. 25 T. 3553-3579].

On Saturday evening, April 22, 2000, at about 5:30p.m. **Lieutenant Howard Lashley** of the Auburndale Police Department traveling on Bolender Road near Lake Alfred discovered the white Chrysler Cirrus abandoned in a grove near Lake Alfred. There were footprints in the sand running away from the vehicle. They turned the scene over to a deputy sheriff **[Dominguez]** who was told of the tire tracks and footprints. [R. Vol. 24 T. 3375-3398].

Crime Scene Technician Paula Maney of the Polk County Sheriff's Department was called to the scene of the recovered Chrysler Cirrus on Bolender Road by **Deputy Dominguez**. It was nighttime on April 22nd. **Maney** knew nothing at the time of the possible connection of the vehicle to any missing persons. It was merely an abandoned vehicle call at that time. **Maney** observed tire tracks, shoeprints, and apparent blood on the vehicle. She photographed, but took no samples. **Maney** did not cast apparent tire tracks nor footprints. [R. Vol. 23 T. 3282-3284, 3256-3291 generally].

Sergeant Alyn Marler of the Polk County Sheriff's Department was called to the Bolender Road site of the abandoned car by **Deputy Dominguez**. **Marler** later learned that it had been involved in a chase by **Deputy Lay** on the night of April 21st, and that it was a car owned by a **David Green** of Virginia who had been reported a missing person on the 22nd. **Marler** called crime scene technicians to the scene to

fingerprint and photograph the vehicle. Blood spatter was also found on the vehicle. **Marler** does not recall **Dominguez** telling him of the footprints in the sand. **Marler** also called the detective on call that night **Lawrence Cavallero**. [R. Vol. 24 T. 3398-3414]. The **Green/Felker** family members soon came to the Bolender Road scene to identify the car and tell police about a tool kit of computer tools [used by **Green** in his employment] and a polaroid camera and other items which were missing from the car. There was blood on the car which was later identified through DNA as being that of **Mr. Felker**.

Lieutenant Lawrence Cavallero of the Polk County Sheriff's Department took over the scene of the recovery of the white Chrysler Cirrus. He had monitored the Lakeland car chase by **Officer David Lay** the night of April 21st. [R. Vol. 24 T.3424-3425; 3438]. **Cavallero** also made the decision to call out the crime scene technicians to the Bolender Road site of the recovered vehicle and had it towed to the crime scene office in Bartow [R. Vol. 24 T. 3424-30; 3435-3448. He knew the men were missing, but the bodies of the two men had not yet been discovered so the fact of the murders was unknown. [R. Vol. 24 T. 3426]. **Cavallero** was at the site at least twice. He was called back Sunday morning because the Green/Felker family members were on that site and he solicited their assistance. [R. Vol. 24 T. 3427-3429]. Thereafter, after the missing items from **Green's** car were described, **Cavallero** began searching for

information on them at pawn shops. He called and learned of the pawning of the black leather satchel of computer tools by **Sammy Pitts**. He also learned the pawn shop had surveillance video cameras. [R. Vol. 24 T. 3429-3433].

The Polk County Sheriff's Department Crime Scene Technician Linda Raczynski was called to the Bolender Road scene of the recovery of the white Chrysler Cirrus at 5:26p.m. on April 23, 2000. Members of the **Green and Felker** families were on site looking for items belonging to the missing men. The car itself had earlier been towed to crime scene headquarters. She photographed various items which had been found by family members in the surrounding area. These included a jacket belonging to **Mary Bloomer's** child [**Mary** was **Green's** fiancée] and other miscellaneous items. [R. Vol. 20 T. 2673-2680]. **Green's** employer and prospective father-in-law, **John Bloomer** and his daughter, **Green's** fiancée, Mary Bloomer each testified on the various items of property which were missing from the car or found on the bodies and which they described extensively and many items they identified from among the state exhibits. [R. Vol. 26 T. 3795-3812, 3813-3825].

On Monday, April 24, 2000, CST Raczynski processed the white Chrysler Cirrus and dusted for fingerprints, took samples of apparent blood from the car, and vacuumed for trace evidence. She photographed various features of her procedure. [R. Vol. 20 T. 2756-58, 2683-2707].

CST Raczynski was also lead Crime Scene technician at the scene in an orange grove on Barfield Road near Polk City where the bodies of **Mr. Green** and **Mr. Felker** were discovered on Wednesday, April 26, 2000. She did aerial and on-ground photos of the scene, measurements and sketches of the scene, and photographed the victim's bodies and the locations of shell casings, projectiles and other evidence found at the scene. [R. Vol. 20 T. 2707-2749].

Crime Scene Technician Jean Gardner assisted Raczynski at the Barfield Road scene of the recovery of the bodies and did back-up photos. [R. Vol. 21 T. 2849-50]. Gardner also attended the autopsies to the two murder victims on April 27, 2000, took hair, fingerprint, nail scrapings, and blood standards and recovered clothes from the victims, as well as projectiles and shotgun wadding and pellets. [R. Vol. 21 T. 2850-2884 generally]. Gardner took autopsy photos which were admitted, some over objection. [R. Vol. 21 T. 2852-56, 2857-73].

Later, Polk County Sheriff's Department Fingerprint Identification Examiner Patty Newton examined latent prints lifted from the Chrysler Cirrus by Raczynski. At trial Newton identified one palm print of **T.J. Wright** as a match to a latent from the exterior left door frame, and a second palm print lifted from the left rear panel of the car also matched that of **Mr. Wright**. She also identified a latent from the exterior of

the front door as matching one of the index fingers of **T.J. Wright**. [R. Vol. 25 T. 3664-3668].

COLLATERAL CRIME FOUR: THE TACO BELL CARJACKING

Later the same night, now early Saturday morning, April 22, 2000, at about 1:30a.m. there is a armed carjacking at the Taco Bell on 3rd street in Winter Haven. **Adam Granados** [who is deceased at the time of all the trials herein due to an unrelated vehicle accident], his girlfriend, **Sonja Martinez**, and his friend, another young Latin male, **Ernesto Mendoza**, were hanging out with others in the parking lot of Taco Bell when **Granados** discovered his battery was dead. The two men were jump starting **Granados**' car in the Taco Bell Parking lot. A young black male walked up and pointed a gun at them and took the car. **Granados** and **Mendoza** gave chase in the latter's car a 1995 white Jimmy. They pursued the carjacker north on 6th Street NW through the streets of Northwest Winter Haven and up Highway 17 to the intersection of Highway 17 N and Highway 92 in Lake Alfred. The stolen car was abandoned by the carjacker, who fired a handgun several times at the pursuers before running away. [**Ernesto Mendoza** Testimony and that of **Mary Cook**, Winter Haven Police Department, who investigated the incident and sent out a BOLO on the stolen vehicle. [R. Vol. 22 T. 2976-3020; 3021-3036].

Officer Michael Teague of the Lake Alfred Police Department, investigated the carjacking and shooting incident involving **Adam Granados'** Caprice at about 1:40a.m. April 22, 2000. Teague secured the scene of the abandoned stolen car. He interviewed Mr. Mendoza and **Mr. Granados**. Teague did not search their vehicle [Mendoza's Jimmy]. [R. Vol. 23 T. 3189-3205].

Sergeant Danny Monroe of Lake Alfred Police Department photographed the abandoned stolen car on scene and the **Mendoza** "chase car." Monroe recovered several bullet casings. Monroe photographed an apparent bullet hole in the Jimmy vehicle **Granados** and **Mendoza** used to chase the carjacker. He also processed the stolen **Granados** vehicle and obtained latent prints mostly from the steering wheel and the inside driver's window. [R. Vol. 22 T 3090-3113]. Later ballistics test show that casings found in the roadway area were fired from the .380 handgun which was used to shoot **Green** and **Felker**.

T.J.'s Wright's fingerprints were found on the stolen **Granados** vehicle. FDLE Fingerprint Examiner Charles Faville testified that two fingerprints lifted from the steering wheel and left inside driver's window respectively of **Adam Granados'** 1985 Chevrolet Caprice were those of **T.J. Wright**. [R. Vol. 25 T.3691-3695; Vol. 26 T. 3696-3715]. Also, a few days later the victims went down

to the Winter Haven Police and told them they could identify **T.J. Wright** as the carjacker from a picture in the local newspaper in a story about the murders.

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