TAVARES J. WRIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-2212 Lower Tribunal No. CF00-2727A-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0134101 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS THAT THE FLORIDA DEATH SENTENCING STATUTES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS PURSUANT TO <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

Wright next contends that the lower court erred in denying his motions below challenging the death penalty statute as unconstitutional under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Specifically, he complains that the statute requires the trial judge rather than the jury to make the findings to impose a death sentence but acknowledges this Court has rejected the claim in cases like <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002); <u>King v. Moore</u>, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002); <u>Duest v.</u> <u>State</u>, 855 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 2003); and <u>Jones v. State</u>, 855 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2003) (Appellant's Brief, pp. 86-87). Secondly, Wright argues that the aggravating circumstances are elements of the offense and must be charged in the indictment and found unanimously by the jury (Appellant's Brief, pp. 88-93).

Standard of Review

Whether challenged statutes are constitutional is a question of law which the appellate court reviews *de novo*. <u>Caribbean Conservation Corp. v. Fla. Fish & Wildlife</u> Conservation Commission, 838 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 2003). But since by his actions Appellant has abandoned and waived the claim, there is nothing to review. Wright mentions that he filed a motions and arguments below making Ring-related number of arguments. See e.g. R III, 427-460; R III, 533-535; R III, 522-528; R IV, 677-702. He further notes that the trial court denied his motions. See e.g. R III, 516, 517, 521; R IV, 703-Thus, he reasons, the matter has been adequately preserved 704. for appellate review. This reporting, however, remains incomplete. While the foregoing alone might have been sufficient for initial appellate preservation purposes, Appellant's subsequent action in voluntarily waiving the right to present evidence to, and receive a recommendation from, the jury and to rely exclusively on the court, is fatal to the presentation of his claim now. He abandoned any Ring-type contention by choosing to have the circuit court alone consider and decide his fate and thus is procedurally barred now from attempting to resurrect the claim (R. 33, 5047-5123). See generally McDonald v. State, 952 So. 2d 484, 489 (Fla. 2006) (noting several claims were procedurally barred in the appeal from denial of the postconviction motion because they had not been raised in the trial court); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218 n6

(Fla. 1999); <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1252 (Fla. 2003)(issues raised in appellate brief that contain no argument are deemed abandoned); <u>accord Simmons v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 n12 (Fla. 2006); <u>Whitfield v. State</u>, 923 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 2005); <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 1 n7 (Fla. 2003); <u>Atkins v. Singletary</u>, 965 F.2d 952, 955 n1 (11th Cir. 1992)(appealing only a portion of the multiple issues and subissues raised below results in abandonment on appeal); <u>Doyle v. Dugger</u>, 922 F.2d 646, 649-650 n1 (11th Cir. 1991)(same).

Appellant Wright is absolutely correct that the State would insist he may not present а claim attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme under the Supreme Court's holding in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) because he requested and was granted a penalty phase conducted without a jury. See Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 366 nl (Fla. 2003); <u>Guzman v. Sta</u>te, 868 So. 2d 498, 511 (Fla. 2003) ("Guzman asserts that he did not knowingly waive his jury rights, because at the time of his waiver in 1996, neither the trial court nor defense counsel knew the rights that would be granted by Ring and Apprendi, so they did not explain these rights to Guzman. This claim lacks merit because Ring and Apprendi did not invalidate any aspect of Florida's death

sentencing scheme [citation omitted]. Thus, <u>Ring</u> did not expand Guzman's jury rights beyond what he knew when he waived these rights."). <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 810, 822 (Fla. 2005) (holding as to <u>Ring</u> claim, "The trial court ruled that Bryant's claim is legally insufficient because he waived his penalty phase jury. We agree."); <u>see also</u>, <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296 (2004) (holding that <u>Apprendi</u> rights can be waived).

Alternatively, even if the claim had been adequately preserved, it is meritless.⁶ In <u>Winkles v. State</u>, 894 So. 2d 842, 845-847 (Fla. 2005), this Court disposed of the claims as follows:

Winkles argues that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional on two grounds: (1) contrary to the statute, the Supreme Court's decisions in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 147 L.Ed. 2d 435, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000), and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 153 L.Ed. 2d 556, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002), require that a jury must find the aggravating circumstances necessary to impose the death penalty; and (2) the statute does not require that aggravating circumstances be charged in the indictment. We address each claim in turn.

First, Winkles contends that under Apprendi and Ring, a jury must find the aggravating circumstances required to impose the death penalty. [fn3] In

⁶ In a decision in May of 2005, this Court observed that it had rejected <u>Ring</u> claims in over fifty cases. <u>Marshall v. Crosby</u>, 911 So. 2d 1129, 1134 and n5 (Fla. 2005). Obviously, since that time, the Court has had the occasion to add numerous cases to that list. Appellee does not deem it necessary to further itemize them.

Apprendi the United States Supreme Court held that "[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." 530 U.S. at 490. In Ring, the Court applied this rule to death penalty cases, holding that "[c]apital defendants, no less than noncapital defendants . . . are entitled to jury determination of any fact on which the а legislature conditions an increase in their maximum punishment." Ring, 536 U.S. at 589, 122 S.Ct. 2428.

[fn3] Winkles based his argument before the trial court on Apprendi and Ring, even though the latter case had not been decided when Winkles raised his claim. Certiorari, however, had been granted. See Ring v. Arizona, 534 U.S. 1103, 1103, 151 L.Ed. 2d 738, 122 S.Ct. 865 (2002).

As appellant admits, at least in cases, such as one, that include a prior violent this felony conviction as an aggravating circumstance, this Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that Apprendi and Ring require the jury, rather than the judge, to find the remaining aggravators. See, e.g., Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003) ("We have previously rejected claims under Apprendi and Ring in cases the aggravating factor of a involving previous conviction of a felony involving violence."), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 993, 158 L. Ed. 2d 500, 124 S. Ct. 2023 (2004); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla.) ("Ring does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury."), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 950, 157 L. Ed. 2d 283 (2003). Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's denial of relief on this issue.

Second, Winkles contends that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional because it does not require that aggravating circumstances be charged in the indictment. Again, this Court has regularly rejected such claims where, as here, one of the aggravators is a prior violent felony conviction. For example, in *Doorbal v. State*, 837 So. 2d 940, 963 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 539 U.S. 962, 156 L. Ed. 2d 663 (2003), we rejected this same claim, concluding that

one of the aggravating circumstances found by the trial judge to support the sentences of death was that Doorbal had been convicted of a prior felony, violent namely the contemporaneous murders of Griga and Furton, and the kidnapping, robbery, and attempted murder of Schiller. Because these felonies charged were by indictment, and a jury unanimously found Doorbal prior violent quilty of them, the felony aggravator alone satisfies the mandates of the United States and Florida Constitutions, and therefore, imposition of the death penalty was constitutional.

Accord Blackwelder v. State, 851 So. 2d 650, 654 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting claim that aggravating circumstances must be alleged in indictment); see also Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 378 (Fla.) (rejecting a claim that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional because it does not require notice of aggravating circumstances), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 867, 157 L. Ed. 2d 123 (2003). As we have said before, aggravating "[t]he factors to be considered in determining the propriety of a death sentence are limited to those set out in [the statute]. Therefore, there is no reason to require the State to notify defendants of the aggravating factors that it intends to prove." Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921, 927 (Fla. 1994). The trial court in this case found, and we agree, that each murder charged in the indictment to which Winkles pled guilty constituted a prior violent felony conviction as to the other murder conviction. See Pardo v. State, 563 So. 2d 77, 80 (Fla. 1990) ("We have consistently held that the contemporaneous conviction of a violent felony may qualify as an aggravating circumstance, so long as the two crimes involved multiple victims or separate episodes."). The prior violent felony aggravator also was supported by appellant's 1982 convictions for kidnapping, armed robbery, and aggravated assault and his 1963 convictions for assault and attempted robbery. Accordingly, we affirm the court's denial of Winkles's motion on this issue as well.

<u>Accord</u>, <u>Hernandez-Alberto v. State</u>, 889 So. 2d 721, 733-34 (Fla. 2004).

Appellant Wright adds at footnote 3 on page 86 of his brief that he is incorporating "in part" the arguments set forth in the Public Defender's initial brief in Douglas v. State, SC02-1666. Appellee submits that such "incorporation" is improper. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 645 (Fla. 1995) ("In any event, it clearly is not proper for counsel to attempt to crossreference issues from a brief in a distinct case pending in the same court. . . Moreover, we do not believe it wise to put an appellate court or opposing counsel in the position of guessing which arguments counsel deems relevant to which of the separate cases, nor do we support a rule that might encourage counsel to brief the Court through a simple incorporation by reference."); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 648, 652 (Fla. 1995) ("The attempt to cross-reference a brief from a separate case is impermissible under any circumstances because it may confuse factually inapposite cases, it leaves appellate courts the task of determining which issues are relevant (which is counsel's role, and it circumvents the page-limit requirements.").

Additionally, and alternatively his claim is meritless. In <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 878 So. 2d 1246, 1263-64 (Fla. 2004) this Court yet again rejected the <u>Ring</u> claim, despite the Public Defender's brief.

Wright attempts to explain away his waiver-abandonment by arquinq that he merely elected to foreqo the jury's participation in sentencing because Appellant was upset about the trial court's allowing collateral crime evidence to be Wright's argument is reminiscent of the defense introduced. contention rejected years ago by the Supreme Court when a petitioner claimed that cause existed to excuse his procedural default in that objection would have been "futile" in state Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 130 (1982) ("We note at court. the outset that the futility of presenting an objection to the state courts cannot alone constitute cause for a failure to object at trial. If a defendant perceives a constitutional claim and believes it may find favor in the federal courts, he may not bypass the state courts simply because he thinks they will be unsympathetic to the claim.").

Although not given the opportunity to submit a sentence recommendation, the jury in the instant case did unanimously find (1) that Wright was guilty of carjacking and possessed a

firearm and during the crime, carried, displayed, used, threatened to use or attempted to use a firearm; (2) that Wright was guilty of two counts of kidnapping and carried a firearm, and during the crime carried, displayed, used, threatened to use or attempted to use a firearm; (3) that Wright was guilty of <u>two</u> <u>counts</u> of first degree murder, that he carried or displayed a firearm, possessed a firearm, discharged a firearm which resulted in death or great bodily harm to another; (4) that Wright was guilty of robbery with a firearm and that he possessed a firearm and during the crime, carried, displayed, used, threatened to use a firearm. (R IV, 708-714).

This Court has continued to deny <u>Ring</u> claims on a consistent basis. <u>See Frances v. State</u>, 970 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 2007).

Frances' claim is without merit. *Ring* did not alter the express exemption in *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000), that prior convictions are exempt from the Sixth Amendment requirements announced in the cases. *Id.* at 490. [n5] This Court has repeatedly relied on the presence of the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance in denying Ring claims. *See*, *e.g.*, *Smith v. State*, 866 So. 2d 51, 68 (Fla. 2004) (denying relief on Ring claim and "specifically not[ing] that one of the aggravating factors present in this matter is a prior violent felony conviction"); *Davis v. State*, 875 So. 2d 359, 374 (Fla. 2003) ("We have denied relief in direct appeals where there has been a prior violent felony aggravator."); Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271, 286 (Fla. 2003) (stating that the existence of a "prior violent felony conviction alone satisfies constitutional mandates because the conviction was heard by a jury and determined beyond a reasonable doubt"); *Henry v. State*, 862 So. 2d 679, 687 (Fla. 2003) (stating in postconviction case that this Court has previously rejected *Ring* claims "in cases involving the aggravating factor of a previous violent felony conviction"). (footnote omitted)

Additionally, this Court has rejected claims that Ring requires the aggravating circumstances to be individually found by a unanimous jury verdict. See Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 359 nn.9-10 (Fla. 2004); Blackwelder v. State, 851 So. 2d 650, 654 (Fla. 2003); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003). The Court has also repeatedly rejected challenges to Florida's standard jury instructions based on Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985). See Mansfield v. State, 911 So. 2d 1160, 1180 (Fla. 2005); Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1992).

<u>Accord Grim v. State</u>, 841 So. 2d 455, 465 (Fla. 2003); <u>Parker v.</u> <u>State</u>, 904 So. 2d 370, 383 (Fla. 2005); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 969 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 2007).

Since Wright has multiple previous violent convictions, some contemporaneous with the instant homicides, he would not be eligible for <u>Ring</u> relief-even if he had not abandoned and waived the claim. This meritless and procedurally barred claim must be rejected and relief denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING IT PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MURDER.

Appellant next challenges the trial court's finding that the CCP aggravator was established. Appellee submits that his contention is meritless.

Standard of Review

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